# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 4/17/2025 4:18 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/18/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Supreme Comt No

Case #: 1040776

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 57878-6-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DOROTHY HELM,

Appellant,

V.

KRISTYAN CALHOUN ET VIR AND

THOMAS PARKER ETUX.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Law Offices of Dan R. Young Attorneys for Appellant Dorothy Helm P.O. Box 15113 Seattle, WA 98115 (206) 829-9947

# I. Tables

## A.

#### II. Identity of Petitioner

Appellant Dorothy Helm asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in Part III of this petition.

#### III. Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

Opinion in *Dorothy Helm v. Kristyan Calhoun et al.*, No. 57878-6-II (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 15, 2024) (unpublished), and subsequent order denying motion for reconsideration, filed March 18, 2025. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-43. A copy of the order denying petitioner's motion for reconsideration is in the Appendix at pages A-44.

#### IV. Issues Presented for Review

1. Did the trial court improperly dismiss on summary judgment Helm's CPA claims against Calhoun and Parker and Helm's claim of participation in a breach of fiduciary duty

against Parker?

- 2. Does Calhoun as a professional fiduciary and certified professional guardian (CPG) have fiduciary duties independent of the UPOAA (RCW ch. 11.125)?
- 3. When evaluating Calhoun's conduct while acting under a power of attorney, should she be held to the higher standard of a CPG, as opposed to the standards for a lay person?
- 4. Is the jury given insufficient guidance if asked to determine whether real property sold was for an "inappropriate amount" instead of fair market value?
- 5. Did the trial court manifestly abuse its discretion by failing to admit under ER 404(b) plaintiff's evidence of a similar transaction between Calhoun and Parker regarding (Sorenson's) real property?

#### V. Statement of the Case

This Petition for Review raises the significant issue of whether it was an unfair or deceptive act or practice for a

professional fiduciary (Calhoun) acting under a power of attorney (POA) to sell a vulnerable adult's (Helm's) house to the fiduciary's friend (Parker) in a private sale at a price well below fair market value without consulting the principal (Helm).

This case involves a lawsuit by Appellant, Dorothy Helm, against Kristyan Calhoun, who held a POA signed by Helm and construed by the trial court and court of appeals to authorize Calhoun to sell all of Helm's real estate. There was no mention of price, terms of sale or any other particulars. Calhoun then sold in early 2017 the first of Helm's properties, a single-family residence for which Helm paid \$117,000 in 2005, to Calhoun's friend, Thomas Parker, for \$28,000, a price well below fair market value and without consulting Helm. Helm contended that Calhoun, as a professional fiduciary and certified professional guardian (CPG), had a fiduciary duty to obtain the best possible price in the sale of the property and consult with her principal, as described in Allard v. Pacific Nat'l Bank, 99 Wn.2d 394, 406, 663 P.2d 104, 773 P.2d 420 (1983), and her failure to do so violated Calhoun's fiduciary duty and any course of action any reasonable fiduciary.

Thomas Parker, Calhoun's friend, was also a named defendant. Helm alleged three theories of recovery against him: participation in a breach of fiduciary duty, violation of the CPA, and civil conspiracy. All of Helm's claims against Parker were dismissed on summary judgment, and the court of appeals affirmed that ruling.

Subsequently, Helm's CPA claim against Calhoun was dismissed on summary judgment. Helm's claim against Calhoun for civil conspiracy and breach of fiduciary duty proceeded to trial. The civil conspiracy claim was dismissed upon the close of the evidence.

Only Helm's breach-of-fiduciary-duty claim was submitted to the jury. The jury rendered a verdict against Helm on her breach-of-fiduciary duty claim and in favor of Calhoun.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in all respects. Helm filed a motion for reconsideration and a motion to publish. In the motion for reconsideration, Helm pointed out numerous factual errors in the Court of Appeals decision that may have caused the court to rule as it did.

The Court of Appeals ultimately denied Helm's motions, declining to revise its opinion or publish the decision. Helm timely filed the present petition for review to this Court.

#### VI. Argument

# A. This Appeal Involves Issues of Substantial Public Interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The issues on this appeal involve substantial public interest because they affect the financial wellbeing of vulnerable individuals, including those with cognitive impairments and mental health issues, who must rely on professional fiduciaries for help with their financial assets.

Certified professional guardians (CPGs) are appointed by this Court and are accordingly given a high position of trust and confidence within our society. The issues in this appeal raise questions about the standard of care for CPGs when they are selling real estate under a POA, a commonly used less restrictive alternative to a guardianship or conservatorship.

The issues in this appeal include whether it was an unfair or deceptive act or practice for a professional fiduciary acting under a POA to sell her vulnerable principal's property to the fiduciary's friend for a price well below market value without consulting the principal.

Another substantial public interest relates to real estate sales in Washington. Not only did the conduct of the defendants prevent Helm from receiving the best possible price for her property, but it also deprived other potential buyers of a fair opportunity to compete for the property. In this way, "the marketplace is disrupted artificially and a fraud on the market has occurred." *Sing v. John L. Scott*, Inc., 134 Wn.2d 24, 45-46, 948 P.2d 816 (1997).

1. The trial court improperly dismissed Helm's CPA claims against Calhoun and Parker and Helm's claim of participation in a breach of fiduciary duty against Parker.

Summary judgment rulings are reviewed on appeal *de novo*. *Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home*, 185 Wn.2d 532, 547, 374 P.3d 121 (2016). The party moving for summary judgment bears the initial burden of showing that there is no disputed issue of material fact." *Young v. Key Pharms*., Inc., 112 Wash.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). In conducting this inquiry, the court must view all facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 370, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).

In affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals determined that "Helm cannot show that Parker and Calhoun participated in an unfair or deceptive practice." *Helm, Slp. Opn.* at 37. Helm respectfully disagrees.

# a) Summary judgment dismissal of the CPA claim against Parker was error.<sup>1</sup>

The unfair act or practice alleged by Helm was Parker's knowing purchase of property well below fair market value from a known fiduciary without any inquiry as to the owner's motivation to sell at such a discounted price. AB 25-26. CP 7-8. Parker willfully put his blinders on.

In his motion for summary judgment regarding the CPA claim against him, Parker essentially argued that there were no disputed facts because "there was nothing unfair or deceptive about Parker purchasing property at the lowest price he can negotiate." CP 82. Parker seemed to implicitly concede that he got a good deal, i.e., below fair market value, and asserted that it wasn't unfair. AB 16-18. Parker's argument did not compel Helm to set out admissible evidence on the fair market value of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The record on Parker's summary judgment motion includes CP 1 to CP 348, which corresponds to proceedings up through the trial court's pre-trial order denying Helm's motion for reconsideration of Parker's dismissal from the case. CP 347.

the property. *Preston v. Duncan*, 55 Wn.2d 678, 682-83, 349 P.2d 605 (1960).

Helm was "justified in relying on the allegations in her pleadings" when Parker did not challenge in his motion for summary judgment that the price he paid was below fair market value. *Preston v. Duncan*, at 682-83. It was up to Parker to demonstrate *in his motion for summary judgment* that there could be no admissible evidence establishing the elements of Helm's CPA claim against him. *Id.* He did not do so, not even submitting his own declaration in support.

Helm responded to Parker's motion with evidence to support the elements of her claims. She included evidence that the sale price of the property was indeed below fair market value. For example, she provided an excerpt from Parker's deposition in which he testified the tax-assessed value was \$64,570, more than double the price he was paying for the property. CP 256 at 82. She also provided evidence that Parker was an experienced

real estate broker, had had multiple transactions with Calhoun in both a fiduciary and personal capacity going back at least 12 years, and did not make inquiry into Helm's motivation to sell at such a low price. CP 102-3; CP 220-221, ¶ 11; CP 250 at 47-48; CP 260-63.

On a motion for summary judgment, neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals should have accepted Parker's argument at face value, for his knowledge of the value of the property is peculiarly within himself and can only be determined at trial by the assessment of his credibility by the trier of fact. AB 30-33; *Riley v. Andres*, 107 Wn. App. 391, 395, 27 P.3d 618 (2001).

In reply, Parker challenged Helm's evidence of fair market value as inadmissible. The trial court granted Parker's summary judgment dismissal of Helm's claims against him without explanation. CP 302.

Helm moved for reconsideration, providing additional

evidence of the fair market value of Helm's property in the form of a retrospective appraisal by a certified appraiser. CP 323. The court denied Helm's motion for reconsideration on the basis that it "states an insufficient basis for reconsideration under CR 59." CP 347.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the CPA claim, reasoning that Parker "testified that he never had any contact with Helm whatsoever regarding the transaction" and that Calhoun and Parker "testified that they negotiated over the price[.]" *Slp. Opn.* at 37. But this reasoning is erroneous because it assumes that the unfair act alleged was Parker's participation in a breach of fiduciary duty, when the actual unfair act alleged as to the CPA claim was Parker's knowing purchase of property well below fair market value from a known fiduciary without any inquiry as to the owner's motivation to sell at such a discounted price. AB 25-26; CP 7-8.

This Court has observed:

"... Summary judgment . . . is a liberal measure, liberally designed for arriving at the truth. Its purpose is not to cut litigants off from their right of trial by jury *if they really have evidence which they will offer on a trial*, it is to carefully test this out, in advance of trial by inquiring and determining whether such evidence exists. ..."

Preston v. Duncan, 55 Wn.2d at 683 (quoting Whitaker v. Coleman, 115 F.2d, 305, 307 (5th Cir., 1940)) [italics added].

Here, Helm *really did have evidence* that showed Parker's purchase price of \$28,000 was far below the fair market value of \$115,000, based on an appraisal of the property. CP 304. She *really did have evidence* that Parker purchased the property from a known fiduciary without any inquiry as to the owner's motivation to sell at such a discounted price. CP 102-3; CP 220-221, ¶ 11; CP 250 at 47-48; CP 260-63. This evidence plainly shows the unfair act alleged.

The trial court effectively excluded Helm's otherwise admissible evidence of market value when it denied her motion for reconsideration. It apparently did so without considering the

Burnet factors. Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 494, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997).

The trial court's dismissal of Helm's CPA claim against Parker should be reversed. CP 347.

# b) Summary judgment dismissal of the CPA claim against Calhoun was error.

The Court of Appeals determined that Helm failed to prove the first element of her CPA claim against Calhoun. The reason given was that Helm signed the POA and Service Agreement instructing Calhoun to liquidate Helm's properties, so Helm cannot show that Calhoun's actions constituted an unfair or deceptive act or practice under the CPA. *Slp. Opn.* at 13.

However, this conclusion ignores the discrepancy in the price at which the Rhapsody Drive property was sold and its fair market value. It is at least a disputed issue of material fact whether a professional fiduciary's selling real property under a POA for less than market or fair value under the circumstances

of this case is an unfair or deceptive act or practice, and that issue should not be resolved on summary judgment. And even if *Allard* did not apply, a fiduciary—and especially a professional fiduciary—must at least act *in the principal's best interest* under RCW 11.125.140(1)(a). Selling real property for a fraction of its value cannot, as a matter of law, be in the principal's best interest, despite Calhoun's belated arguments to the contrary. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment on Helm's CPA claim against Calhoun.

Of course, both Calhoun and Parker denigrated the property with *speculation* about whether the septic system was working, the trees posed a danger to the house, the supposed threat of a lawsuit, the house was filled with the smell of marijuana and the neighbor's concerns that the house was a drug house. *Slp. Opn.* at 5. But they made no attempt to show what effect any of these alleged issues had on the value of the property.

Helm had not been released from the mental institution she

was in at the time that Calhoun and Parker were discussing Calhoun's sale of Helm's property to Parker.<sup>2</sup> There is no evidence that Calhoun knew the value of the property, or made any effort to find out, other than to accept a number casually thrown out by real estate agent Allen of \$40,000 to \$50,000 based on a supposed CMA that was never produced in court and was not shown to even exist.<sup>3</sup> She simply negotiated Parker's price up from \$26,000 to \$28,000 and agreed to a private sale to him. A reasonable person could conclude that it was an unfair or deceptive act or practice on the part of Calhoun to sell Helm's property to her friend Parker at a below market price without discussing the matter with Helm, particularly in light of the fact that Calhoun had recently done it before with another client. See  $\S$  A.5 infra re Sorenson transaction.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Calhoun and Parker discussed the sale in December 2016 (CP 607), and Helm was released from HSC Yankton in August 2017 (CP 689).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 687-89.

Helm also argued that she can show how Calhoun's sale of the property to Parker affected other consumers or the public, the third element of a CPA claim. *Slp. Opn.* at 37. RCW 19.86.093(3) sets forth how the public interest test may be met if an act or practice "(a) [i]njured other persons; (b) had the capacity to injure other persons; or (c) has the capacity to injure other persons. RCW 19.86.093(3). If the Sorenson transaction is disregarded, Calhoun's conduct still had the capacity to injure other persons in any other case in which she held a power of attorney. AB 27-29. If this Court applies the thrust of *Allard* to the instant facts, as it should, the unfairness of Calhoun's conduct will even be more apparent.

Helm therefore satisfied the elements of a CPA claim for purposes of summary judgment, and it was error to dismiss her CPA claims against Calhoun on summary judgment.

c) Summary judgment dismissal of the participation in a breach of fiduciary duty against Parker was error.

Helm also alleged that Parker participated in Calhoun's

breach of fiduciary duty.

The Court of Appeals ruled that "in order for Parker to be liable for participating in a breach of fiduciary duty, Parker must owe Helm a duty. But Helm has not shown that a duty existed." *Slp. Opn.* at 37.

The Court of Appeals did not address Helm's authority to the contrary, which does not require every participant in a breach to owe a duty to the plaintiff.<sup>4</sup> AB at 30; CP 306.

It is a matter for the trier of fact to determine whether Parker knowingly assisted Calhoun in violating her fiduciary duty. The Court should reverse summary judgment dismissal of Helm's claim of participation in a breach of fiduciary duty against Parker.

2. Calhoun as a professional fiduciary and CPG has fiduciary duties independent of the UPOAA (RCW ch. 11.125).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> These cases were *LaHue v. Keystone Inv. Co.*, 6 Wn. App. 765, 783, 496 P.2d 343, *review denied*, 81 Wn.2d 1003 (1972) and *Locke v. Andrasko*, 178 Wash. 145, 153, 34 P.2d 444 (1934).

The trial court determined that the scope of Calhoun's fiduciary duties owed to Helm were circumscribed within the four corners of the recently enacted Uniform Power of Attorney Act, RCW ch. 11.125 (UPOAA). CP 1668-69 (Jury Instruction 11). The Court of Appeals essentially agreed with the trial court stating that "the jury instructions as a whole, including instruction 11, accurately conveyed the applicable law to the jury." *Helm*, at 33. The jury instructions were predicated on the assumption that Calhoun's status as a CPG and the CPG standards of practice are irrelevant and that duties applicable to trustees as announced in *Allard* do not extend to POAs. *Slp Opn.* 34.

The Court of Appeals' resulting narrow construction of the UPOAA is inimical to the public interest and should be modified by this Court. The UPOAA does not preclude the extension of *Allard* to professional fiduciaries acting as attorneys-in-fact. RCW 11.125.210 ("the principles of law and equity supplement"

the UPOAA). RCW 11.125.230 (remedies under the UPOAA "are not exclusive and do not abrogate any right or remedy under the law of this state other than this chapter" of the UPOAA). AB 64.

That *Allard* should apply to a CPG acting under a POA seems like common sense. After all, if a CPG were acting as a guardian or conservator, she is in "an important position of trust" and owes "the highest duty of care to the individual for whom they are appointed." In selling the client's assets, the CPG's duty would include obtaining the "best price" while avoiding "conflicts of interest and self-dealing."

If the CPG were acting as a trustee, the *Allard* rule has a similar requirement. The CPG's duty would require informing the beneficiaries of the sale and sale price, as well as obtaining the "best possible price." *Allard*, 99 Wn.2d 394, at 405.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://www.courts.wa.gov/guardianship/FAQ.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Id*.

Why should the rule be any different for a CPG acting under a POA? In the instant case, Calhoun was acting under a POA. This Court should accept review to address this significant issue of public interest.

The Court of Appeals should have applied the rule of *Allard*, because Calhoun was a professional fiduciary in a position of trust, and her acting under a POA and self-drafted Service Agreement rather than a trust instrument should not be determinative. Substance over form is a common principle applied in many situations. *Spokane County v. Specialty Auto*, 153 Wn.2d 238, 245, 103 P.3d 792 (2004). Principles of law and equity supplement the Uniform Power of Attorney Act (UPOAA). RCW 11.125.210.

The significant class of disabled people who are served by professional holders of a POA deserve the protection of the *Allard* rule when their real property is being sold without being under their supervision. Such application of *Allard* would

prevent the loss which occurred here to Helm, and may occur to others.<sup>7</sup>

3. When evaluating Calhoun's conduct while acting under a power of attorney, she should be held to the higher standard of a CPG, as opposed to the standards for a lay person.

The trial court barred testimony about the qualifications of Calhoun as CPG and the standard of care which specifically governs a CPG's professional practice. RP 694, 1145, 1196, 1885-1886. These evidentiary rulings were predicated on the trial court's interpretation of the law governing agents under a POA as contained solely within the four corners of the UPOAA.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> ". . . [The Uniform Power of Attorney Act (UPOAA)] now enacted in a total of twenty-eight states since approved by the Uniform Law Commissioners in 2006, represents a significant advancement in clarifying and regulating the use of powers of attorney. Given the widespread use of powers of attorney and their great potential for abuse and misuse, a comprehensive set of rules--both default and mandatory--are warranted." Simmons, Thomas E., Restraining the Unsupervised Fiduciary, 66 South Dakota Law Review, No. 2, (June 2021), at 209.

RP 687-88. This was error. RCW 11.125.230 provides that the UPOAA does not preclude application of other rules of law. RCW 11.125.230.

The standard of care governing the practice of a CPG is codified in the *Standards of Practice Regulations* for certified professional guardians (SOPs). GR 23(c)(3)(ii); GR 23(d)(1). *Raven v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 177 Wn.2d 804, 823-24, 306 P.3d 920 (2013); *In re Mesler*, 21 Wn. App.2d 682, 703-704, 507 P.3d 864, 877 (2022) (CPG Standards define a professional guardian's obligations and scope of services). The jury should have been so instructed, e.g., Helm's proposed instruction 9 (CP 1652).

The Court of Appeals also determined that a "CPG license and the standards pertaining to said license status were irrelevant" if it cannot be established that the license was a factor in the principal's selection of a CPG as an agent under a DPOA, apparently looking to RCW 11.125.140(5). *See* Appendix, A-45.

Since this statute states that the agent's special skills or expertise *must* be considered if the agent was selected on the basis of such skills, the statute does not *preclude* the consideration of special skills or expertise under other circumstances where appropriate.

4. The jury is given insufficient guidance if asked to determine whether real property sold was for an "inappropriate amount" instead of fair market value.

Fair market value is frequently used as a measure of damages or value. *Merchant v. Peterson*, 38 Wn. App. 855, 858, 690 P.2d 1192 (1984) ("Absent willful misconduct, the measure of damages for conversion is the [wholesale] fair market value of the property at the time and place of conversion."); *Estate of Jones*, 152 Wn.2d 1, 15, 100 P.3d 805 (2004) (fair market value used in valuing assets of probate estate); *Highline Dist. v. Port of Seattle*, 87 Wn.2d 6, 14 n.5, 548 P.2d 1085 (1976) ("In inverse condemnation actions, as in eminent domain proceedings, the landowner is entitled to full and fair compensation for the loss of his property rights. In many

instances this measure is the difference between the market value of the land before the injury and that value immediately after the injury.") [Citation omitted.]

The Court of Appeals' reference to *Dahl-Smyth v. City of Walla Walla*, 148 Wn.2d 835, 848, 64 P.3d 15 (2003) cited by Helm references an objective standard, i.e., "measurable damages." *Slp. Opn.* at 35. Helm's Proposed Jury Instruction 11, ¶ 1 referred to her damages as the loss of money on the sale of the Rhapsody Drive property as measured by the difference between the fair market value and the sale price of the property as of the date of sale. CP 1618.

The jury instruction as given by the trial court stated that "Plaintiff claims that Defendants breached their fiduciary duty to Plaintiff by selling Plaintiff's Rhapsody Drive property for an inappropriate amount." Jury Instruction 5, CP 1661; AB 69-70. An "inappropriate amount" is a completely subjective amount untethered to any objective standard. Even the trial court's

"doesn't say fair market value" is misleading. RP 2177.

RCW 11.125.170 states that an "agent that violates this chapter is liable to the principal or the principal's successors in interest for the amount required to restore the value of the principal's property to what it would have been had the violation not occurred." If Calhoun violated her fiduciary duty in selling Helm's property at too low of a price, then the amount required to restore the value of her property would be the difference between the \$28,000 Calhoun sold the property for and what she should have sold it for, i.e., the fair market value at the time of sale as determined by the trier of fact. Absent an objective standard such as fair market value, the jury would have no idea how to calculate damages. Helm's proposed Jury Instruction 6 (CP 1651) on the definition of fair market value should have been used in this regard. The trial court's rejecting Helm's proposed jury instruction regarding "fair market value" was therefore

erroneous.

5. The trial court manifestly abused its discretion by failing to admit under ER 404(b) plaintiff's evidence of a similar transaction between Calhoun and Parker regarding (Sorenson's) real property.

As an initial matter, the Court of Appeals erroneously stated that Helm alleged or argued that the Sorenson transaction should have been admitted under ER 406 (evidence of habit). *Slp. Opn.*, 22. <sup>8</sup> This is not accurate. There is no such "allegation" or "argument" by Helm. Helm requested in her motion for reconsideration to the court to correct this inaccuracy in its opinion, but the Court of Appeals declined to do so.

Helm actually had submitted exhibits of the Sorenson transaction under ER 904, and defendants did not make their

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