FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/10/2025 4:10 PM
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Supreme Court Cause Number 1040776

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DOROTHY HELM

Appellant,

V.

KRISTYAN CALHOUN, THOMAS PARKER, ET AL.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT CALHOUN'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RONALD D. RICHMOND WSBA 42438 Attorney for Kristyan and James Calhoun 1521 SE Piperberry Way # 135 Port Orchard WA 98366 360-876-5015

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court must decide whether to accept review of the unpublished opinion issued by Division II. A petition for review will be accepted by this Court only upon a showing of one of four prongs set forth in RAP 13.4(b). In her Petition for Review, Helm focuses solely the fourth prong – an issue of substantial public interest. Accordingly, it will be the only prong addressed in this brief.

A decision that has the potential to significantly affect proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary

litigation and confusion on a common issue. *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005).

There is no substantial public interest to any of the issues raised by Helm in her Petition.

A. Attorneys-in-Fact, Certified Professional Guardians, and Trustees are Legally Distinct and Separately Governed

Helm assigned Calhoun as her Attorney in Fact pursuant to a Power of Attorney (POA) document. Later, Helm sued Calhoun for breach of fiduciary duty.

No evidence was introduced that Calhoun was appointed POA because of her experience as a Certified Professional Guardian (CPG) or her experience as a Trustee. When Calhoun registered her initial objection to the introduction of CPG standards, it was based on the lack of evidence that the CPG license factored into the selection of Calhoun as POA. RP 686

et seq. At no point did any witness offer the CPG license as a reason why Calhoun was selected.

Helm assign error to the failure of the trial court to allow the jury to consider the CPG Standards of Practice, and that the jury should be instructed pursuant to this Court's dealt solely with the duties of trustees.

Trustees have long been governed by statutory law in Washington. The Court in *Allard* analyzed duties under RCW 30.24, which was shortly after (circa. 1985) recodified as RCW 11.100. Multiple chapters of Title 11 are devoted to governing Trusts and the actions of Trustees, particularly RCW 11.97 through 11.118.

In 2016, Washington State codified the Uniform Power of Attorney Act (UPOAA) into law as RCW 11.125. This chapter specifically governs the appointment and actions of an agent for a principal as appointed by a Power of Attorney document. Notably, the legislature did not choose to make the UPAA a part of the statutory scheme governing Trusts.

The license of a CPG is, similar to that of attorneys, the creation of this Court through General Rule 23. First adopted in 2000, and amended substantially over the years, this Rule creates and governs the CPG license, and also creates and governs the CPG Board – the ultimate body that adopts and implements the Standards of Practice (SOPs) pursuant to GR 23(c)(3)(ii).

Helm argues again to this Court, as she has to every prior court, that (1) because Calhoun held a CPG license, therefore this case should be subject to the guidelines from the CPG SOPs; and (2) that because she was selling real estate for Helm, therefore this case should be subject to the guidelines in *Allard* regarding a Trustee selling real estate.

Helm offers no authority for this proposition other than that RCW 11.125.210-230 do not limit the applicability of other laws. That the UPOAA does not limit other laws does not logically translate to mean that any other law may apply – even if Trustee or CPG governance has some similarity.

In particular, the request to abrogate longstanding comprehensive statutory schemes and court rules into one blended homogenous fiduciary duty would, if adopted, be a significant deterioration of the Separation of Powers. This is a long-standing principle of Washington jurisprudence.

"[A]rguments from... history or analogy for the purpose of searching out and justifying the interpolation into the statute of new terms, and for the accomplishment of purposes which the lawmaking power did not express, are worse than futile. They serve only to raise doubt and uncertainty where none exist, to confuse and mislead the judgment, and to pervert the statute." State ex rel. Ronald v. Clausen, 114 Wn. 520, 523, 195 P. 1018 (1921). The Court continued this ruling by noting that "[courts] cannot read into a statute something that is not within the manifest intention of the legislature as gathered from the statute itself. To depart from the meaning expressed by the words is to alter the statute, to legislate and not to interpret." *Id.*, at 524.

This is precisely what Helm is trying to do: to request that the Trial Court, the Court of Appeals, and now this Court expand the scope of the UPOAA to include other duties or standards applied in Trustees or CPGs. The legislature chose to adopt Power of Attorney legislation separate and distinct from other statutes on Trustees or other court rules regarding CPGs. The legislature could have added these additional duties and standards, and did not do so. It would be error to subvert this law-making power of the legislature.

There is no reversible error in applying only POA law to the actions of a POA.

B. The CPA Does Not Apply To Matters of Professional Judgment

Firstly, Helm's Petition for Review offers zero analysis of why the dismissal of the CPA claim on Summary Judgment is an issue of substantial public interest pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Calhoun specifically objects to Helm offering any such

elaboration being done for the first time before this Court on Reply, as Calhoun will have no opportunity to respond.

In addition, Calhoun offers the following:

Helm included in her lawsuit a claim against Calhoun under the CPA (RCW 19.86). Both at summary judgment (where the CPA claim was dismissed on Calhoun's motion) and also at trial, Helm did not offer evidence disputing that she signed the POA document and the subsequent service agreement. Both documents granted the power to Calhoun to sell Helm's real estate.

For this assignment of error in her Petition for Review,
Helm relies on the requirement in RCW 11.125.140(1)(a) that
the fiduciary must act in the principal's best interest. Helm
them continues to opine that selling the property "for a fraction
of its value cannot... be in the principal's best interest."

Petition, p. 14.

At trial, the jury was given Jury Instruction No. 9 (CP 1665-1666; attached hereto as Appendix A), which included the

Instruction No. 11 (CP 1668-1669; Appendix B) set forth that not acting in the principal's best interests was one of five ways in which the jury could find that Calhoun had breached her fiduciary duty.

After hearing all of the evidence, the Jury deliberated and filled out the verdict form (CP 1675-1676; Appendix C). On that form, they were asked if Calhoun breached her fiduciary duty, and the answer was "No." Helm offers no analysis of, if a Jury has found that no breach of fiduciary duty occurred, how a violation of the CPA could occur.

In addition to the Court of Appeals' finding that Helm failed to meet the first element under the CPA (unfair or deceptive act or practice), Helm cannot meet the second prong: occurring in trade or commerce.

Although "learned professions" are not exempt from the CPA, this Court has established that the CPA only applies to "entrepreneurial or commercial aspects of professional services,

not the substantive quality of services provided." *Michael v. Mosquera-Lacy*, 165 Wn.2d 595 at 602 citing *Ramos v. Arnold*, 141 Wn.App. 11, 20 (2007). "Claims directed at the competence of and strategies employed by a professional amount to allegations of negligence and are exempt from the Consumer Protection Act." *Id.* The distinction seems to be less one of who is or isn't licensed, but rather whether the action is based on the entrepreneurial aspect of the activity versus the professional judgment of the practitioner whose work is being challenged.

There is no error in prior rulings on the CPA.

C. The Method of Valuing Property Does Not Create a Significant Public Interest

Firstly, Helm's Petition for Review offers zero analysis of why the dismissal of the CPA claim on Summary Judgment is an issue of substantial public interest pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Calhoun specifically objects to Helm offering any such

elaboration being done for the first time before this Court on Reply, as Calhoun will have no opportunity to respond.

In addition, Calhoun offers the following:

Helm asserts that fair market value is frequently used as a measure of damages or value, citing to cases regarding conversion, probate, and eminent domain. *Petition*, p. 23.

However, while this is true, Helm offers no authority for why it is the standard that should apply in this case – apart from Helm's own argument for it. This does not rise to the level of substantial public interest.

In addition, Helm's focus on "fair market value" seems to be on her alleged lack of direction to the jury in how to calculate damages. This fails to be error, as the jury didn't reach the need to calculate damages – they found no breach by Calhoun. (Verdict form, at CP 1675-1676; Appendix C.)

There is no reversible error related to valuation of Helm's property.

D. <u>Fact-Specific Evidentiary Rulings Are Best Left</u> To The Court's Discretion

Helm asserts error in the exclusion of evidence, which exclusion was based on lack of habit, of an unrelated event (the Sorenson transaction), asserting that the Trial Court should have analyzed admissibility under ER 404(b). *Petition*, p. 31-32.

Helm's argument on this issue offers zero analysis of why it is an issue of substantial public interest pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). Calhoun specifically objects to Helm offering any such elaboration being done for the first time before this Court on Reply, as Calhoun will have no opportunity to respond.

In addition, while Helm restates in detail the same arguments made to the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals, she offers no legal authority why the Court of Appeals was incorrect in its ruling. Conversely, the Slip Opinion cites to several other cases supporting the trial court's decision.

Absent authority for her arguments, Helm's assertions merely underscore and reinforce that the decision made by the Trial Court was situational and fact-specific – and thus within its discretion – not a broad legal issue with substantial public interest implications.

There is no reversible evidentiary ruling related to the Sorenson transaction.

V. ATTORNEYS' FEES SHOULD BE AWARDED

If this Court denies the Petition for Review, Calhoun respectfully requests an award of her reasonable and necessary fees and costs pursuant to RAP 18.1(j) for the time spent preparing a Response to the Petition. Fees and costs were awarded to Calhoun by the Trial Court (CP 1931-1939), and were subsequently awarded by the Court of Appeals (*Petition for Review*, Appendix at A-39 – A-42). Accordingly, this Court also has discretionary authority to award fees and costs pursuant to RCW 11.96A.150(1).

If this Petition for Review is denied, then Helm will have made the same ineffective arguments to the Trial Court, Court of Appeals, Court of Appeals on reconsideration, and now this Court. Calhoun contends that equity is strongly in her favor for an award of fees for having to Respond to these same arguments yet again.

V. CONCLUSION

Helm does not demonstrate any issue of substantial public interest. Indeed, she barely even analyzes this in her brief, and offers no authority therefore.

She has not established that there is a substantial public interest in this case related to maintaining separate and distinct fiduciary laws, applying the CPA, choosing a valuation method, or excluding evidence of a similar transaction. On each of these issues, the trial and appellate courts ruled within the normal and ordinary scope of applicable law, and while Helm clearly disagrees strongly with those rulings, she has not demonstrated any substantial public interest to justify further review.

Review should be denied, and fees awarded.